W00A

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 74,407
4TH DCA CASE NO: 87-1820 and
87-2555

FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION
FUND and MAX W. WILSON, M.D.,
and WILSON, MEIGS, MASTROLE
and SUTHERLAND, M.D., P.A.,

Petitioners,

vs .

DORIS WASSER, as Personal
Representative of the Estate
of JACOB WASSER,

Respondent,

OCT 20 1988
Clerk of the Supreme Court
Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER (FPCF'S) INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Submitted by:

Melanie G. May, Esquire
BUNNELL and WOULFE, P.A.
1080 S.E. 3rd Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316
(305) 761-8600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS

Section 768.56's application to the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund [FPCF] and yet another variation of a familiar theme provide the variety of issues for this Court's review. The plaintiff, Doris Wasser, successfully prosecuted a claim against Max W. Wilson, M.D., and Wilson, Meigs, Mastrole and Sutherland, M.D., P.A. While the FPCF was a named defendant, the verdict did not exceed the limits of Dr. Wilson's coverage. Nevertheless, the trial court entered a judgment against the FPCF. The trial court awarded attorney's fees against the defendants jointly. The petitioners, FPCF, Dr. Wilson and his P.A., seek review of the attorney's fees award. (R. at 1068-70).

The complaint alleged that Dr. Wilson had been negligent in his care and treatment of the plaintiff's decedent, Jacob B. Wasser, from March 22, 1978, through the end of February, 1985. (R. at 1068-70). The plaintiff alleged that as a result of the negligence, Jacob Wasser died on June 28, 1985. The health care provider and his P.A. denied the allegations of negligence. (R. at 1071-72).

The FPCF admitted that Dr. Wilson and his P.A. were members of the FPCF at "sometime, however such membership [was] limited by the terms and conditions of the applicable Florida Statutes and the contract," and further asserted as a defense "all such conditions, limitations, limitations of liability, effective dates of coverage and exclusions." (R. at 1078-79). The parties entered into a joint pre-trial stipulation in March,

1987. Under section 111, "Statement of Disputed Issues of Law and Facts," the parties set forth the issue of causation. Trial commenced on April 13, 1987. The jury returned a verdict in the amount of four thousand, three hundred sixty-seven dollars and five cents (\$4,736.05), for Mr. Wasser's estate and ninety thousand dollars (\$90,000) for Doris Wasser. (R. at 995).

Subsequently, Wilson and his P.A. filed various post-trial motions. (R. at 1093-97). The FPCF filed a motion for a new trial and a motion to vacate the final judgment. (R. at 1098-99). The plaintiff filed a motion to tax attorney's fees and costs. (R. at 1105-07).

At the hearing on the post-trial motions, the FPCF argued that the underlying judgment did not exceed the health care provider's insurance coverage of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000). Therefore, the underlying judgment should not be entered against the FPCF. (R. at 1049). With regard to the attorney's fees judgment, the FPCF argued that the plaintiff was not a "prevailing party" as to the FPCF and that the health care provider's underlying insurance policy provided coverage for attorney's fees through its supplementary payments provision.

At the hearing on the motion for attorney's fees, the plaintiff called Richard R. Kirsch, Esquire, as an expert witness. He believed that two hundred and sixty-six (226) hours were reasonably spent in preparation and trial of the case and that two-hundred and fifty dollars (\$250) an hour was a reasonable rate. (R. at 1009).

By multiplying 226 hours by \$250 per hour, he arrived at a figure of fifty-six thousand, five hundred dollars (\$56,500). (R. at 1010). He opined that a contingency risk multiplier of 2.5 should be applied. By multiplying the 2.5 contingency risk factor by \$56,500 he arrived at a reasonable attorney's fee of one hundred forty-one thousand, two hundred and fifty dollars (\$141,250). (R. at 1013).

The trial court denied **FPCF'S** motions for new trial and to vacate the final judgment. (R. at 1114). On the same day, the trial court entered an amended final judgment, which imposed liability for the underlying judgment, costs, and attorney's fees jointly against Dr. Wilson, his **P.A.**, and the **FPCF**. The court awarded attorney's fees in the amount of one hundred and one thousand, seven hundred dollars (\$101,700). This figure was achieved by multiplying 226 hours by \$200/hour to obtain a lodestar of forty-five thousand, two hundred dollars (\$45,200) and then multiplying it again by a contingency risk multiplier of **2.25**. The judgment also contained a cost award of seven thousand, seven hundred fifty-three dollars and eighty cents (\$7,753.80).¹

The **FPCF** filed a motion to alter or amend the amended judgment requesting the court to vacate the underlying judgment and the award of attorney's fees and costs against the **FPCF**. (R.

¹ Dr. Wilson and his **P.A.** have paid the underlying judgment, costs, and interest and a partial satisfaction of judgment has been executed. The **FPCF** did not participate in this settlement.

at 1119-20). The trial court denied the motion. (R. at 1133-34 and 1138-39).

During the trial, the FPCF had attempted to participate in a limited capacity. The legal issue of coverage had been raised in its answer. The factual issue of causation had been raised in the pre-trial stipulation. Counsel for the FPCF requested the court to allow its participation on the factual causation issue so that the court could then rule on the legal issue of coverage.

At the beginning of the trial, the FPCF advised the court of its position.

Mr. Woulfe: I represent the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund. I have a request to make to the court, so we may end up with a total of six strikes on each side, depending on how you rule. I represent the Fund. The Fund covered through the end of June '83.

The allegations in the complaint alleged negligence on the part of Dr. Wilson, I believe, 1978, '79, right on through until 1984, and '85. The patient died in 1985. There has been expert testimony from the Plaintiff that has indicated that, if the diagnosis had been made and treatment started before the end of the year 1983, that the man would not have died when he died. My coverage ended June 30, 1983.

I have got a verdict form here that has a question that I would like to have the jury answer [T]he question is, "within a reasonable degree of medical

probability, when do you find that the last time that the man could have been diagnosed and treated, and the result would have been different."

If the court allows that question to go to the jury, then I am going to stay in the case and participate. If the court does not, then I have got a much more difficult question, because I am not sure actually what I need to do in order to preserve that issue.

But if the court is not going to instruct the jury, to give that question, then I am going to have limited or no participation at all.

(See Trial Transcript; R. at 5-6).

Both the plaintiffs' and the defendants' attorneys objected to the FPCF'S participation. They both argued that the issue had not been properly raised.

Now, I am not representing to the Court that Mr. Woulfe did not ever tell me during the course of this litigation, that they may be claiming that at some point.

What I am telling you is that it is not an issue that we had stipulated to, nor discussed was going to be tried at this particular time

(R. at 11). The trial court denied the FPCF'S request to participate in the trial. (R. at 30).

Throughout the trial, the FPCF proffered testimony, which revealed that if Mr. Wasser had been diagnosed and treated in 1983, he would have had a better than 50% chance of survival. (R. at 291). However, if his condition was not treated or

diagnosed until 1984, he would not have had a better than 50% chance of survival. Id. The FPCF elicited similar testimony from Dr. Henry, the plaintiffs' expert. (R. at 385). On cross-examination of Dr. Struhl, the FPCF elicited his opinion **that it** was more probable than not that if the cancer had been treated by surgery anytime in 1981, 1982, or 1983, Mr. Wasser would not have died in June, 1985. Id. at 483.

At the conclusion of the testimony, the FPCF advised the trial court that if allowed, it would have presented additional testimony.

It would come from the representative of the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, and I am not going to do it in question and answer form. I am just going to give a statement of what it would be, and the statement would be this.

That Dr. Wilson and his P.A. had, and were members of the Patient's Compensation Fund up until the end of . . . June 30, 1982, that Dr. Wilson himself had his membership continued on to June 30, 1983, and that is it; and I think also the statute very clearly points out that after June 30, 1983, that the Fund discontinued writing any coverage, has not written any coverage since June 30th of 1983.

(R. at 910). The FPCF then moved for a directed verdict based on causation. "But for" the negligence that occurred after June 30, 1983, after the FPCF coverage lapsed, Mr. Wasser died. Any negligence that occurred prior to that time had no causal connection to Mr. Wasser's death. Therefore, the legal cause of his death occurred after June 30, 1983, when the FPCF did not provide coverage. (R. at 913).

The court denied the motion. (R. at 913-14). The special interrogatory requested by the FPCF was not submitted to the jury. The FPCF was not permitted to receive a jury finding on the issue of causation or obtain a legal ruling on the coverage issue.

From the various post-trial orders and the amended judgment, the FPCF appealed. The Fourth District Court of Appeal identified the "main issue" as "whether the Fund or Wilson's primary carrier is responsible for Wasser's attorney's fees." Relying upon Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Sitomer, 524 So.2d 671 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the Fourth District held "that the language of the health care provider's underlying coverage was 'sufficient to include the payment of attorney's fees'"² The Fourth District held the health care provider's underlying carrier responsible for the attorney's fees award.

The Fourth District affirmed the trial court's finding that the "fee agreement" provided for an award of a reasonable attorney's fee and was not limited by the percentage agreement. The Fourth District did not address the FPCF'S inability to participate at trial. The Fourth District granted rehearing to correct a mis-statement in the original opinion, but did not change the substantive outcome of the case.

From this decision, the underlying health care provider and his P.A. filed a notice to invoke the discretionary

² The Sitomer decision is currently pending review in this Court.

jurisdiction of this court. The Florida Patient's Compensation Fund joined in the notice to invoke. ³

³ If the Fourth District's decision is affirmed in all respects, the FPCF has no interest in the issues. However, because of cases pending in this Court at the time the Notice to Invoke was due concerning the responsibility for the attorney's fees award, the FPCF joined in the notice. Should this Court reverse the Fourth District on the issue of responsibility, then the FPCF'S interest in the remaining issues is renewed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Several errors, which occurred post-trial, mandate a reversal of the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision and the trial court's orders of June 9, 1987, and August 27, 1987. Because the verdict in the case did not exceed the limits of the health care provider's underlying coverage, no underlying judgment should have been entered against the FPCF. The trial court erred when it did so and the Fourth District compounded the error by affirming.

Without an underlying judgment against the FPCF, the plaintiff is not a "prevailing party," pursuant to Fla. Stat. 5768.56. Because the plaintiff is not a "prevailing party" against the FPCF, she is not entitled to attorney's fees. Quijano v. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, 520 So.2d 656 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988). Indeed, the FPCF should be entitled fees against the plaintiff. The trial court erred when it entered the attorney's fees judgment against the FPCF. The Fourth District erred when it affirmed the judgment.

Regardless of the "prevailing party" issue, the judgment for attorney's fees must be vacated for an additional reason. The health care provider's underlying policy contains a supplementary payments provision. The supplementary payments provision provides for the payment of "all costs taxed." Therefore, the attorney's fees "are payable under the provision of the health care provider's liability insurance coverage...." Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc, 514 So.2d 52, 54

(Fla. 1987). The Fourth District Court of Appeals' decision should be affirmed on this issue.

The decision should be reversed, however, on the "amount" of fees issue. The award should be reduced to the percentage called for under the plaintiff's fee agreement.

The trial court improperly prohibited the FPCF from presenting evidence and argument on its coverage issue. The factual issue of causation was raised in the pre-trial stipulation. The legal issue of coverage had been raised in the FPCF'S answer. The FPCF should have been permitted to present its case at trial. The trial court's error requires a new trial limited to the coverage issue if the FPCF is held liable for attorney's fees.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ENTERING A FINAL JUDGMENT AGAINST THE FPCF WHEN THE VERDICT FAILED TO EXCEED THE LIMITS OF THE HEALTH CARE PROVIDER'S UNDERLYING INSURANCE POLICY.

Section 768.54 provides in pertinent part:

- (b) Whenever a claim covered under subsection (3) results in a settlement or judgment against a health care provider, the Fund shall pay to the extent of its coverage if the health care provider has paid the fees and any assessments required pursuant to sub-section (3) for the year in which the incident occurred for which the claim is filed, provides an adequate defense for the Fund, and pays the initial amount of the claim up to the applicable amount set forth in paragraph (f) or the maximum limit of the underlying coverage maintained by the health care provider on the date when the incident occurred for which the claim is filed, whichever is greater.

Fla. Stat. §768.54 (b) (1983). Because the judgment in this case did not exceed the maximum limit of underlying coverage, no judgment should have been entered against the FPCF.

In this case, the health care provider maintained underlying coverage of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), plus a supplementary payments provision. (See copy of policy attached to notice of filing, dated March 25, 1988). Under 5768.54, the FPCF did not become a responsible party until the underlying coverage was exhausted. The judgment of ninety-four thousand, three hundred sixty-seven dollars and five cents (\$94,367.05) did not exhaust the underlying coverage. The trial

court erred, therefore, in entering a judgment against the FPCF. The trial court's orders of June 9, 1987, and August 27, 1987, as well as the Fourth District Court's opinion should be reversed in this regard.

11. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ASSESSING ATTORNEY'S FEES AGAINST THE FPCF WHEN THE PLAINTIFF WAS NOT A "PREVAILING PARTY" AGAINST THE FPCF.

Section 768.56 of the Florida Statutes provides:

Except as otherwise provided by law, the court shall award a reasonable attorney's fee to the prevailing party in any civil action, which involves a claim for damages by reason of injury, death, or monetary loss on account of alleged malpractice by any medical or osteopathic physician, podiatrist, hospital or health maintenance organization; however, attorney's fees shall not be awarded against a party who is insolvent or poverty-stricken.

Fla. Stat. s768.56 (1986) (emphasis added). The statute requires the existence of a "prevailing party" before a fee may be awarded. Because the plaintiff was not a "prevailing party" against the FPCF, the trial court erred in entering an attorney's fees judgment against it. Quijano v. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, 520 So.2d 656 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988).

In Quijano, the Third District acknowledged that the FPCF may be a "prevailing party" regardless of the merits of the negligence action against the health care provider. In that case, the FPCF prevailed because none of the health care providers were members of the Fund. The FPCF prevailed in the present case because the verdict failed to exhaust the limits of

the health care provider's underlying coverage. The plaintiff simply did not satisfy the statutory prerequisite of being a "prevailing party."

The FPCF is a statutory creature. The 1983 version of the statute specifically provided that the FPCF is responsible for paying to the extent of its coverage **only** after the health care provider has paid the fees and assessments for the year, provided an adequate defense, and paid the initial amount of the claim up to the "maximum limit of the underlying coverage. . . ." Fla. Stat. §768.54(b) (1983).

In this case, the underlying coverage was one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) plus items covered by the supplementary payments provision. Because the verdict did not exceed the applicable amount of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) "plus", the FPCF'S coverage never took effect. The plaintiff was, therefore, never a "prevailing party" with regard to the FPCF. For this reason, the trial court erred when it entered an attorney's fees judgment against the FPCF. The orders denying the FPCF'S motion to vacate should be reversed as well as the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision, which affirmed these orders.

III. THE HEALTH CARE PROVIDER'S UNDERLYING INSURANCE CARRIER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ATTORNEY'S FEES AWARD.

A. Section 768.54 Mandates That Dr. Wilson Is Responsible For The Attorney's Fees Taxed In This Case.

Section 768.54 (2)(b) provides for a limitation of liability to the health care provider if certain prerequisites are met. Those prerequisites include the payment of a required fee by the health care provider, an adequate defense for the FPCF, and the payment of at least one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) "or the maximum limit of the underlying coverage maintained by the health care provider. . . whichever is greater. . . ." The limitation on liability exists only after the health care provider exhausts its underlying coverage. The FPCF is only liable for amounts that exceed one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), whichever is greater. In this case, the maximum coverage exceeded one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) and included coverage for attorney's fees awarded in this case.

The policy in this case provides supplementary coverage for "all costs taxed" in defending a medical malpractice action. These costs include statutory attorney's fees "taxed against the non-prevailing health care provider member." The FPCF is not liable for the prevailing party's attorney's fees because the underlying coverage agreement expressly provided that in addition to the applicable limits of liability, the carrier would pay "all costs taxed."

The health care provider's underlying coverage was maintained with the North Broward Hospital District Active Medical Staff Self-Insurance Trust Fund [underlying carrier]. The coverage agreement provided for one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) in liability coverage plus "supplementary payments." The supplementary payments provision provided:

The Staff Fund will pay, in addition to the applicable limits of liability:

- (a) All expenses incurred by the Staff Fund, all costs taxed against the Member in any suit defended by the Staff Fund and all interest on the entire amount of any judgment therein, which accrues after entry of the judgment and before the Staff Fund has paid or tendered or deposited in the court that part of the judgment which does not exceed the limit of the Staff Fund's liability thereon. . . .

The supplementary payments provision provided for the underlying carrier to pay "all costs taxed" against the health care provider. "Costs" in the context of this policy includes attorney's fees statutorily required to be "taxed" against the health care provider.

In Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc, 514 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1987), this Court found that the FPCF, not the health care provider, is generally liable for attorney's fees in a medical malpractice action. However, when the health care provider's underlying insurance policy provides for the payment of attorney's fees, the general rule does not apply. As this Court noted:

Our holding should not be interpreted to preclude the payment of a prevailing party's attorney's fee award by a health care provider in every instance. To the extent that the plaintiff's attorney's fees are payable under the provisions of the health care provider's liability insurance coverage, the Fund will not be responsible because section 768.54(2)(b) provides that the Fund shall only pay the excess over \$100,000 or the maximum limit of the underlying coverage, whichever is greater.

514 So.2d at 52 (emphasis supplied). If a health care provider has insurance coverage for the payment of attorney's fees, then section 768.54(2)(b) requires payment by the insurer of that provider.

This Court's recent decision in Spiegel v. Williams, 545 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1989) is analogous to, but not dispositive of, the present case. In Spiegel, this Court held that the following language did not provide for the payment of attorney's fees.

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