IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 74,407

:

٠

FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND, et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

DORIS WASSER, as Personal Representative of the Estate of JACOB WASSER, deceased,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, DORIS WASSER

Steven K. Deutsch, Esq. Deutsch & Blumberg, P.A. Counsel for Doris Wasser 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 358-6329 James C. Blecke Counsel for Doris Wasser Biscayne Building, Suite 705 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-5999

INTRODUCTION

This jurisdictional brief is filed on behalf of the respondent, Doris Wasser,

as personal representative of the Estate of Jacob Wasser, deceased.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Doris Wasser recovered a judgment against Dr. Wilson and the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund for damages, costs, and attorney's fees in this medical malpractice wrongful death action. The only jurisdictionally significant issue decided by the District Court of Appeal was whether the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund or Dr. Wilson's primary carrier should be held responsible for attorneys' fees in excess of primary policy limits. **As** the policy here was identical to the policy construed in <u>Florida Patient's</u> <u>Compensation Fund v. Sitomer</u>, 524 So.2d 671 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the District Court followed its earlier precedent and placed responsibility for attorneys' fees with the primary carrier.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Subsequent to the District Court decision, this court rendered its decisions in <u>Spiegel v. Williams</u>, 545 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1989) and <u>Smith v. Sitomer</u>, 14 HLW 546 (Fla. October 26, 1989). These decisions are controlling.

ARGUMENT

The dispute between the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund and Dr. Wilson's primary carrier is just that. Doris Wasser is entitled to satisfaction of her judgment regardless of whether it is paid by the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, Dr. Wilson's primary carrier, or both.

Resolution of this issue is of no practical concern to Doris Wasser. Yet it is the only issue of concern to this court. It is the only issue that need be resolved in order to maintain uniformity and harmony in the law.

The Florida Patient's Compensation Fund has presented this court with four other issues unrelated to the question which prompted this court's acceptance of jurisdiction. This court should decline to consider the merits of these other matters. There is no reason for this court to allow the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund a second appeal. E.g., <u>Sanchez v. Wimpey</u>, 409 So.2d 20, 21 (Fla. 1982); <u>International</u> Patrol and Detective Agency Company. Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Company, 419

So.2d **323**, 324 (Fla. **1982**) (Alderman, C.J., concurring). The Florida Patient's Compensation Fund has already received all the appellate review it is entitled under Article V, Sections **3** and 4, Florida Constitution.

Three of the four additional issues presented by the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund were affirmed by the District Court of Appeal without comment. The fourth received a brief summary disposition in recognition of the trial court's factfinding authority. The District Court concluded, "The trial court found that the fee agreement called for an award of reasonable attorney's fees. We agree and affirm the trial court on this issue." There is simply no reason for this court entertaining another appeal of the issues already reviewed and affirmed by the District Court of Appeal.

A comparison of the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund's main brief in this court with its main brief in the District Court of Appeal reveals their near identity. In an abundance of caution, Doris Wasser will respond to the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund's reprinting of its District Court brief in similar fashion. What follows is the essence of Doris Wasser's answer brief filed in the District Court of Appeal.

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Wasser sued Dr. Wilson for the wrongful death of her husband, alleging medical negligence in Dr. Wilson's failure to diagnose Jacob Wasser's cancer. The Fund was joined as a party defendant as required by the Fund statute, Section 768.54, Florida Statutes (1983). The joint pre-trial stipulation of the parties disclosed the following Statement of Disputed Issues of Law and Fact:

- 3 -

1. Breach of the Accepted Standard of Care. The Plaintiff claims that the Defendants breached the accepted standard of care in their treatment of JACOB WASSER, deceased. The Defendants deny this claim.

2. Causation. Whether the Defendants' treatment of JACOB WASSER, deceased, caused his death in June of 1985.

3. Damages. What, if any, damages the Estate of JACOB WASSER is entitled to under the Florida Wrongful Death Statute.

4. Comparative negligence.

The joint pre-trial stipulation also advised the trial court, "With regard to jury instructions the parties believe the standard forms are appropriate." The joint pretrial stipulation further provided, "With regard to Verdicts the parties believe the standard forms are appropriate." The joint pre-trial stipulation advised that there were three peremptory challenges per side and that there were no pending motions.

On the morning of trial, the Fund announced without warning that its participation in the trial was contingent upon the trial court's approval of a special verdict interrogatory requesting a jury determination of the last date of probable survivability (R. 5). Wasser objected to the special verdict interrogatory upon the grounds of surprise and the failure of the Fund to raise the issue at any time previously. Wasser relied upon the joint pre-trial stipulation itemizing the issues to be tried and the agreement to submit the case on standard jury instructions and verdict form. Wasser also objected to the special interrogatory as irrelevant and immaterial (R. 6-8). Dr. Wilson agreed that the Fund had never indicated at any time during the course of the litigation that the Fund was going to try to deny Dr. Wilson coverage (R. 10-12). The trial court ruled that the issue had not been properly raised and he was not going to use the Fund's special verdict interrogatory (R. 30).

Dr. Wilson was the first witness and he testified that Jacob Wasser was his patient from 1978 until 1985 (R. 92). On March 20, 1978, Dr. Wilson ordered the first of several blood studies on Jacob Wasser (R. 114). It was an abnormal report (R. 116). In October 1978, Dr. Wilson did another blood study which was also abnormal (R. 126-7). In January 1981, Dr. Wilson obtained another abnormal blood study (R. 128). During a March 1981 hospitalization, Wasser had another abnormal blood study performed (R. 131). On May 27, 1982, Dr. Wilson ordered a blood study which was done on June 1, 1982 and was reported as abnormal (R. 143). Dr. Wilson never ordered another blood study on Wasser after May 27, 1982 (R. 144).

Wasser offered expert witness testimony that the failure to order additional testing or follow-up on the abnormal blood studies was negligent and that proper care would have disclosed the cancer that ultimately caused Jacob Wasser's death (R. 227-8, 324-5). Wasser also introduced testimony that Dr. Wilson was negligent in failing to order further blood studies on a periodic basis after May 27, 1982 (R. 228-9, 318). Wasser would have survived with timely diagnosis and treatment (R. 243-4, 334).

The Fund did not participate in the trial. Outside of the presence of the jury, the Fund did "proffer" additional testimony from certain of the witnesses. From Dr. Zaravinos the Fund elicited the following:

- 5 -

Q. (By Mr. Woulfe) If I understood your testimony correctly, you stated on direct when Mr. Deutsch was questioning you, that if the cancer in the particular case had been diagnosed and treated in 1982 or in 1983, that Mr. Wasser would have had a better than 50 percent or better than fifty-fifty chance, as you stated, that he would not have died in June of 1985; is that a correct statement?

A. That is a correct statement.

Q. And do you also mean - I mean that was within a reasonable degree of medical probability?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you also mean, within a reasonable degree of medical probability, that had it been diagnosed or treated in 1984, or later, that he would not have had a greater than 50 percent or greater than 50 percent chance that he would not have died in June of 1985?

A. That is probably correct.

Q. Okay, that is all. [R. 2911.

From Dr. Henry, the Fund determined:

Q. ... And if 1 understand your testimony correctly, you have stated that if the patient had been diagnosed and treated at any time during 1981 or 1982 or 1983 that he would not have died in June of 1985; is that right?

A. Yes. [R. 3851.

In response to Fund questioning on when Wasser dropped below a 50/50 chance of

survival, Dr. Henry testified:

A. ... And where is that breakpoint? I don't think that I can come up with a breakpoint. I'm not sure why '83 is so magical.

- 6 -

I think that my original deposition, I still agree two to four years prior to '85 would be the time when I think it probably would be seeable, that fingernail 1.5 centimeter thing, maybe back in '81 still resectable for cure up as far as '83, but that's -- We're dealing in pure speculation. [R. 3881.

Finally, the Fund elicited from Dr. Struhl:

Q. (By Mr. Woulfe) It is your opinion is it not it is more probably than not if the cancer Mr. Wasser had had been treated by surgery any time in 1981, 1982 or 1983 that he would not have died in June of 1985?

A. That is my opinion, yes.

Q. It is also your opinion it is more probably than not if he had been treated in 1984 he still would have died in June, 1985?

A. I think June, 1984 is too late, no. [R. 483].

The amended final judgment includes the trial court's findings on the number of hours reasonably expended by Wasser's counsel; a reasonable hourly fee; and a contingency risk multiplier (R. 1115-6). The amended final judgment also expressly provides:

The Court finds that Plaintiffs Attorneys' Fee Contract was a contingent contract providing that "Notwithstanding the above, in the event we prevail at trial, attorneys' fees shall be awarded against the losing party and the fee will be a reasonable fee decided by the Court, which fee may exceed the above Contingency." [R. 1116].

In its order on the Fund's motion to alter or amend the amended judgment,

the trial court held that the Fund was responsible for attorney's fees in excess of the

statutory limitation of liability. But the trial court also clarified the amended final judgment by providing, "the Defendant, FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND, shall be responsible to pay for that portion of the Amended Final Judgment which exceeds \$100,000.00 or the maximum limit of underlying coverage of Defendant, MAX WILSON, M.D. which ever is greater." (e.s.) (R. 1138). There was never a determination of the "maximum limit of underlying coverage" because the trial court was never shown the policy (R. 1036).

On October 14, 1987, a certified copy of a partial satisfaction of judgment was filed (R. 1149). This partial satisfaction of judgment fully satisfied the compensatory damage award of \$94,367.05; fully satisfied the \$7,753.80 cost award; partially satisfied the attorney's fee award to the extent of \$5,632.95; and included payment of \$2,246.20 post-judgment interest. The total of \$110,000 was paid by Dr. Wilson's primary carrier in recognition of its \$100,000 primary policy limits plus supplemental benefits including taxable costs and post-judgment interest.

SUPPLEMENTAL ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED SECTION 768.54 IN DETERMINING THE FUND'S LIABILITY IN EXCESS OF THE MAXI-MUM LIMIT OF THE UNDERLYING COVERAGE.

Section 768.54 Florida Statutes (1983) makes the Fund responsible for any judgment in excess of Dr. Wilson's primary limits of liability coverage. The trial court

appropriately clarified the amended judgment to reflect this limitation on the Fund's liability.

The trial court order was one hundred percent consistent with Florida <u>Patient's Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc</u>, 514 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1987). The trial court held the Fund responsible for attorney's fees in excess of underlying coverage. If the primary carrier covered fees, then the Fund is relieved of that responsibility. Here, the only issue was the extent of coverage for attorney's fees under the supplemental benefit provision contained in Dr. Wilson's primary policy. That issue is the dispute between the Fund and Dr. Wilson (on behalf of the carrier).

II.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ENTERED JUDGMENT AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS AND IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF AS THE PRE-VAILING PARTY WITH THE CLARIFICATION THAT THE FUND WAS ONLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE EXCESS OVER PRIMARY POLICY LIMITS.

The trial court did not enter a separate judgment for attorney's fees against the Fund because Wasser "prevailed" against the Fund. Wasser "prevailed" against a Fund member for whom the Fund is responsible by statute. The trial court entered a judgment inclusive of compensatory damages, attorney's fees, and costs against all defendants with the proviso that the Fund was responsible only for that portion of the judgment in excess of primary policy limits. The Fund is on the judgment because Wasser prevailed against a Fund member and because the Fund is responsible for satisfying the judgment to the extent required by Section 768.54.

Wasser was clearly the prevailing party. <u>Florida Patient's Compensation</u> <u>Fund v. Black</u>, 460 So.2d 381 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

> We do not believe it was the legislature's intent to penalize a plaintiff in these circumstances for adding the Fund to a suit like this. There is no contention that the inclusion of the Fund in the suit was improper. [460 So.2d at 381].

Here again, there was no error in the trial court because the trial court order contemplated Fund responsibility in excess of primary policy limits. The measure of underlying coverage is the issue between the Fund and Dr. Wilson.

III.

THE FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE UNPAID BALANCE OF THE ATTOR-NEYS FEE AWARD.

The hearing on the motion to limit and motion to alter or amend was conducted without benefit of the primary policy (R. 1036). The hearing was also conducted without benefit of <u>Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Bouchoc</u>, 514 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1987). It is to the trial court's credit that he held the Fund responsible for attorney's fees while limiting Fund responsibility to the excess over underlying coverage.

The trial court never ruled against the Fund on this issue because the Fund never argued that attorney's fees were a supplemental benefit under Dr. Wilson's primary policy. Indeed, the Fund never offered the policy in support of its motion. It was Wasser's counsel that sought a copy of the policy and suggested that the trial court rule that the Fund was responsible only for amounts in excess of the maximum required by the Fund statute (R. 1065).

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY AWARDED A REASONABLE FEE BASED UPON NUMBER OF HOURS, HOURLY RATE, AND CONTINGENCY MULTIPLIER.

The amended final judgment included the trial court's findings on the number of hours reasonably expended by Wasser's counsel; a reasonable hourly fee; and a contingency **risk** multiplier (R. 1115-6). No one appealed those findings. The amended final judgment also expressly provided:

Ĩ.

The Court finds that Plaintiff's Attorneys' Fee Contract was a contingent contract providing that "Notwithstanding the above, in the event we prevail at trial, attorneys' fees shall be awarded against the losing party and the fee will be a reasonable fee decided by the Court, which fee may exceed the above Contingency." [R. 1116].

The contract between Wasser and her counsel provided that, in the event Wasser prevails at trial, the fee will be a reasonable fee decided by the court, which fee may exceed the percentage contingency fee applicable if the case settled prior to trial and without court award. The trial court correctly ruled that a reasonable fee was recoverable from the defendants. The Fund only provided the District Court with the first of the two hearings on attorney's fees. The first hearing included Wasser's expert testimony on a reasonable fee under <u>Rowe</u> (R. 998-1033). It contained no objection to the attorney expert's testimony that the contract calls for a reasonable fee to be assessed by the court (R. 1014). It contained no argument or objection to a fee based upon reasonable hours multiplied by an hourly rate and contingency multiplier.

The trial court's findings are amply supported by the record and the Fund failed to present the District Court with a complete record of the testimony and evidence upon which the trial court ruled. Absent a record demonstrating error, there is no basis for reversal of the trial court's determination and award of a reasonable attorney's fee.

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